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he Texas Medical Center (TMC) in

Houston, Texas, with forty—’cwo mem-
ber institutions and thirteen hospitals, 18
the largest medical center in the world
with some of the world’s best doctors. The
TMC stands as an example of innovative
healthcare and major medical accomplis}l—
ments because its institutions and doctors
offer a network of knowledge, skill, and
expertise that is remarkable. Undoubtedly,
any doctor would say that access to knowl-
edge is the basis of his or her expertise. At
the Texas Medical Center, the Houston
Academy of Medicine-Texas Medical
Center (HAM-TMC) takes the lead in

provicling medical Iznowle&ge to the med-
ical community. The Medical Center
Library is a dynamic member of the TMC
that offers a unique story and history.
The name of this institution has
endured as many transitions as the
library itself. Over the years it has been
called the Houston Academy of
Medicine Li]:trary, the Texas Medical
Center Li})rary, the Houston Acaclemy of
Medicine Lil)rary for the Texas Medical
Center, and finally in 1970 it was given
the name it is known as today.l Besides
the li})rary's official name are its com-

mon names such as the “the Jones

Lil)rary" or “the Med Center Library.”
The HAM-TMC Library's story
I)egan in 1903 with the formation of the
Harris County Medical Society (HCMS),
which sought to improve public health and

medical standards for the Harris County
community. In the early 1900s, Houston
doctors had to deal with devasta’cing con-
tagious diseases such as typhoid, malaria,
tuberculosis, and yellow fever with little
semblance of sanitation or health stan-
dards. Sl’lortly after the inception of the
HCMS, it became clear that member
physicians require& resources and books to
increase their knowledge in certain aspects
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of medicine. Tl'ley also needed a place to
store and to use these materials—a
li})rary.

In December 1904, the HCMS
formed a committee to arrange a location
for a library. The legal issue of how to
attain and own real property stymied the
committee’s progress until 1915, when it
organized a holding company, the
Houston Academy of Medicine.* The
Society’s library was funded and main-
tained })y donations until 1922, when
they decided to assess a yearly lil)rary fee
of ten dollars. Luclzily, many of the
HCMS members contributed additional
funding through liberal donations, and by
1923 the Society secured a location of
1,200 square feet for the HCMS h]arary
in the Keystone building in downtown
Houston. At its founding, the library
maintained only 1,871 books and 56
journals," but its holdings grew stea(lily,
1(orcing numerous moves to accommodate
its ever-expanding collections. By 1942,
the library maintained 13,235 books and
221 journals, and was “the 13th larges’c
county society hljrary in the country,”

The addition of nearly 72,000 square feet in the 1970s helped to alleviate the

i

ibrary’s growing pains.

l

according to pul)lisl’led statistics.®

Yet, even Ligger and better changes
were on the way. The trustees of the M. D.
Anderson Foundation, decided to estab-
lish a cancer research center.” At the same
time, the Baylor CoHege of Medicine
(BCM) was loolzing for a new location for
its medical school. BCM, along with their
medical library, chose to move to the
Texas Medical Center in 1943.

All those involved quickly realized
that they could better serve the medical
community ljy merging the Baylor College
of Medicine Library, the M. D. Anderson
Hospital for Cancer Research Library, and
the Houston Academy of Medicine
Library, and the libraries of the Houston
Academy of Dentistry and other TMC
institutions to create a first-class medical
library.” The Texas Medical Center con-
tinued its rapid growtl'x, and all too quiclz-
ly, TMC officials recognize& the pressing
need for a larger building. So, the library
moved into a vacant building in the med-
ical center, and by 1949, books were
stacked on the floor since shelf space was
non-existent.® That persistent proMem of

space had reared its ugly head again.

Since the founding of the Texas
Medical Center, officials recognized the
need for a permanent and larger Luilcling
to ensure the quality of a great medical
center library. Their goal was to build a
first class medical library that would offer
a selection of books and journals covering
every aspect of medicine. A 1944 cam-
paign for a Library Building Fund collect-
ed almost $100,000 from HCMS mem-
bers, dentists, the Women’s Auxiliary to
the HCMS, and others.” Yet, this was only
a fraction of the estimated $1.25 million
cost of the new library })uilding soug}lt for
the Texas Medical Center. Even after the
approval of the plans, the location, and
the costs of the new facility, it took almost
ten years to finish raising the funds need-
ed to L)egin construction.

A generous $300,000 gift from the
M. D. Anderson Foundation would not
cover the entire cost of the new building.
A project of this magnitu(le require(l mul-
tiple large donations and a person with
vision to bring it to fruition. Jesse H.
Jones, a well-known Houston financier
and philanthropist, stepped forward and
played an instrumental role in assuring
the completion of the medical center
library. Many agree that if it had not been
for his charitable contribution, the library
as it is known today would not exist. In his
autobiography, Leopold Meyer declared, “I
admired Jesse Jones for his willingness to
lend his name as an endorser of any wor-
thy cause.”"’ In fact, Jesse Jones not only
lent his name, but he contributed
$600,000 toward the JEina.ncing of the
library." Meyer described Jesse Jones’
philanthropic nature: “No one would chal-
lenge the statement that Jesse Jones was
very liberal. It may be that the Jones
Li})rary in the Texas Medical Center is a
monument to this generosity and humani-
tarianism, but he was su})jected to endless
calls to give to the many wortl'ly causes
which abound in our community.”"

Jones recognized that an investment
in a first-class medical lil)rary would bet-
ter all of the Houston community. In
addition to his monetary support, Jones
took a personal interest, worlzing with
architect Cameron Fairchild in the plan—
ning and construction of the new lihrary
building. The new library building would
accommodate 140,000 hoolzs, Texas

Medical Center administration oHices,
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an auditorium, and study and meeting
rooms."” The ivory colored four—story
builcling made of Texas shell limestone
would sit on 3.34 acres, and would be
called the Texas Medical Center Lil)rary.
During the initial planning and con-
struction of the main 1i]9rary }Juilcling,
Jones and Fairchild formulated an
expansion plan to accommodate the
library’s future growth. This plan includ-
ed appending fourteen floors to the main
]:Juﬂ&ing whenever the hlnrary outgrew its
original space.'*

In fact, ’chroughou’t the construction
of the library, Jones conducted regular
Luilding inspections. Dr. William Fields
recalled one of these inspections that
demonstrated Jones' clry sense of humor.
In the spring of 1954, Jones, Cameron
Fairchild, Dr. William Fie]ds, and Lemuel
Bottoms (the construction superintend-
ent) toured the construction site.
According to Fields:

The restrooms which are in the frant o][
the building on the first floor have win-
dows going ][rom the top to the bottom of
the bui/a?ing. When one entered cither
restroom, there was not[zing between “him
or her” and the sidewalk outside. One
could look cjirect/y into the men’s restroom
and see the urinals. Mr. Jones took one
look and saftj, “Fairclzi/a’, is this the way
you have it at home?” Fairchild's face
became Zm'glzt red and he did not know
what to say.”

Of course, blinds were installed on
the Win&ows, and ’coclay the Lushes and
trees planted. in front of the windows add
extra privacy. Considering all of Jones’
support and input, it was fitting that the
new facility was named the Jesse H. Jones
Library Building. The Texas Medical
Center Library moved into its new home

on Septern]aer 9, 1954,

Friends of the Library

With the library established, supporters
decided to form a group to support its
programs and activities. The Friends of
the Texas Medical Center Library would
be in(lepenclent of 1ibrary administration,
and could provicle additional funds for
library programs and activities they
deemed appropriate.® In 1958, the group
sent out invitations to 10,000
Houstonians to join in support of the
library. They realized that as medical sci-
ence progressed, more demands would be
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Construction of the new library addition begins,
1974,

made on the hl)rary to accommodate those

in the medical profession. Without the
implementation of some sort of support
group to aid the library monetarily, it
would be impossible to acquire the much
needed books, journals, programs, and
activities that are required of a distin-
guished medical center library.”
Ad.clitionaﬂy, contributions from the
Priends of the Li]:)rary allowed the 1il)rary

to establish an archive for collections of

rare books and materials from significant
individuals. In this way, the Friends
enabled the Texas Medical Center Library
to expand its services, and begin its great-
est contribution, the John P. McGovern
Historical Collections & Research Center.
The archive oﬁiciany opened in
Septeml)er 1977 as the Special
Collections Department, and after a few
name Changes it has rested upon its pres-
ent namesake for very goocl reasons.” Dr.
John P. McGovern had an enormous
interest in American medicine and also in
Dr. William Osler’s historical collection
and writings as a pediatrician. So, in
1985, Dr. McGovern Legan clonating part
of his personal collection to the archive.
Much of what he donated pertained to his
interest in topics such as allergies, bio-
medical classics, and William Osler, as
well as books and reference materials
regarcling the history of medicine.
Additionally, in 1996, the library’s Board
of Directors established the McGovern
Endowment to preserve and process the
historical collections in the archive."

By the 1970s, the HAM-TMC Library
clesperately needed additional space to

accommodate its laurgeoning collection of
books and journals. The lil)rary facilities
had become inadequate fora complex the
size of the Texas Medical Center and its
ever—expancling number of stuclen’cs, doc-
tors, and facul‘cy. The Houston Academy

of Medicine went into action, designing

plans to build a new $3 million, fourteen-
story Luilding addition that would include
supporting columns for an underground
parking garage. The plan also called for a
four-floor addition adjoining the existing
and new buildings. The new foundation
could support additional floors that might
be needed in the future. The Houston
Academy of Medicine hoped this plan
would resolve the issue of space for the
library. In 1973, the garage construction
Legan, and by 1974, the construction of
the hl)rary addition was in full swing.
When the addition was successfully
merged to the original building, the
library’s usable space practically tripled to
71,059 net square feet®

The 1i})ra,ry experienced other signifi—
cant changes in the 1970s. In 1971, for
example, the lil)rary implemented an auto-
mated circulation system. The next year it
received its first federal grants to aid with
m)rary programs and eHioiency. MED-
LARS, an off-line access reference serv-
ice, was replaced by MEDLINE, its new
on-line version. MEDLINE combined
with INDEX MEDICUS allowed access
to 2,300 indexed medical journals for
li})rary users.”

Unfortunate]y, the 1970s marked a
tragic event in the history of the HAM-
T™MC Li]arary, the clevas’cating flood of
June 15, 1976. Damages exceeded
$200,000, convincing President Ford to
declare the Texas Medical Center a disas-
ter area.” It seems that a major culprit for
the flood was a large drainage ditch con-
structed in 1949 to link the TMC to
Brays Bayou. An underground conduit
later replace(l the clitch; however, it was
not 1arge enough to handle all of the
]neavy rainfall from that storm.”

Fortunately, the water from the flood
l)egan to seep into the street level (l)ase—
ment) of the li]orary in the afternoon,
when employees were still at work. This
enabled 1i13rary employees to salvage mate-
rials that otherwise would have been lost.
During the 1970s, the 1il)rary stored its
collection of rare books on the lower
shelves of the stacks in the street 1evel,



and there were even plans to open
an Audiovisual Services area down
there as well. When the water
began to creep in, employees
attemp’cetl to save as many rare
books and journals as possiue })y
stacleing them on ‘cal)letops to
avoid the three inches of water
covering the entire floor. Efforts
were then made to move as much
of the furniture as possible to the
first floor of the hl)rary. Suclclenly,
however, a glass window that had
been holding back the raging
floodwater broke and the wall in
the Audiovisual Department gave
way. The water quickly rose from
three inches to about thirty inches.
For the first time, but certainly not

the last, a human chain was formed
to move the rare books from the
tab]etops to higher grouncl.’?4 After
this catastrophe, the executive
director of the lil')rary, Samuel Hitt,
sent out a notice to all staff that
any books, journals, or supplies
placed in the street level should not
be placecl on the bottom two
shelves® Tt was good advice, but
twenty-five years later, it did not
prove to be enough.

Tropical Storm Allison in
June of 2001 was another unforeseen cat-
astrophic event that caused devastating
ﬂoocling. Unlike the flood of 1976, this
storm hit the Houston area on a Friday,
and the significant damage became appar-
ent only over the weekend. With no time
to sa]vage all of the valuable books and
journals, the only thing left to do was to
wade into four-feet clcep water and salvage
as much as possible. Library employees
and other TMC staff pul]ecl booles, jour-
nals, and manuscripts from the murky
water in the street level of the library,
boxed them, and then put them in a freez-
er semi-truck. These trucks transporte&
the clamage(l materials to a mold-remedi-
ation company in Massachusetts that used
a freeze—drying process to save whatever
could be saved. Despite the best efforts of
the staff, however, significant losses of
books and journals occurred. As a result,

the ]ohn P. McGovern Historical
Collections & Research Center, the
archive for the library, moved its institu-
tional and manuscript collections to a

£aci1i’cy outside of the Texas Medical

Storm Allison, June 2001. Courtesy Baylor College of Medicine Archives

Library employees try to salvage books and articles during the flood of 1976.

Center to ensure its sa£ety. The new facili-

ty is spacious enough to handle years of
donated coﬂections, and is located
approximately two miles from the Texas
Medical Center, outside of the flood zone.
The HAM-TMC Library is a
unique institution because it is governed
jointly by seven Texas Medical Center
institutions: Baylor College of Medicine,
Houston Acaclemy of Medicine, Institute
of Biosciences and Tecl'\nology— Texas
A&M University, Texas Medical Center,
Texas Woman's University-Houston,
University of Texas Health Science
Center-Houston, and The University of
Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center.
In 1991, the library was designated as
the Regional Medical Library (RML) by
the National Network of Libraries of
Medicine. In this capacity it serves a
five state region including Arkansas,
Louisiana, Texas, New Mexico, and
Oklahoma. The RML is located in the
basement level of the main li]arary. The
main focus of its mission is to provide

biomedical information to doctors liv-

ing in the five state region. It
also provides medical infor-
mation to the pub]ic that
might assist them in health-
related decisions.

The HAM-TMC Lil)rary
has withstood many changes
and chaﬂenges, yet it has con-
tinued to grow and respond to
the needs of the medical com-
munity it supports. It is the
principal library for the Texas
Medical Center and receives
support from sixteen TMC
health-science institutions. As
the information age pro-
gressed, the library advanced
its capabilities to provide
lilorary users with medical and
health data via computer. On
PubMed alone, the National
Library of Medicine citation
database, the liljrary offers

access to over 4,000 electron-

ic journals. It houses over
300,000 books and journals,
and offers consumer health
materials in several 1anguages
such as Spanisln, Vietnamese,
and Chinese.®

The HAM-TMC Library
not only has a unique history
as an unprecedcnted institution, but it
plays an important role in the Texas
Medical Center today. It provides schol-
ars as well as doctors, nurses, medical
s’cuclents, and the pul)lic with medical,
healtl'l, and scientific knowledge and
historical information. As Mrs.
Bushman, one of the first members of
the Priends of the Texas Medical Center
Library, stated, “The 1i1)rary rea“y
Lelongs to everyone, for even’cuaHy all
of us, at one point or another, get to
visit the doctor or dentist.””” The more
lenowle(lge t}ley have, the better expert-
1se t}ley will maintain and the better
healthcare the pul)hc will receive. The
HAM-TMC Library is just as unique
and ever changing as the Texas Medical
Center. Through all the years, transi-
tions, and harclships that HAM-TMC
Lil)rary has experienced, it has proven
to be a reliable resource of research
material and medical knowledge for

healthcare professiona]s, stu(lents, doc-

tors, and the public. [
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